

Identification of Podocalyxin as a Candidate Gene in Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis

Citation

Shieh, Eric. 2015. Identification of Podocalyxin as a Candidate Gene in Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard Medical School.

Permanent link

http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:17295884

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

Accessibility

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Statement of Research				
Chapter 1	Introduction	6		
	PODXL: a member of the CD34 subfamily of sialomucins	6		
	PODXL function and downstream targets	7		
	PODXL's anti-adhesive properties	7		
	Relation to the actin cytoskeleton	7		
	Effects on other downstream targets			
	Physiological/pathological effects of PODXL	9		
	PODXL in the glomerulus	9		
	PODXL in other tissues			
	Objectives	10		
Chapter 2	Materials and Methods	14		
Chapter 3	Results	18		
	PODXL protein stability unaltered by disease-associated mutations	18		
	Enhanced PODXL dimerization by the p.L442R variant			
	Subcellular trafficking and localization of PODXL unaffected			
	by the p.L442R variant	19		
	Interaction of PODXL with ezrin unaffected by p.L442R variant	20		
Chapter 4	Discussion	21		
Chapter 5	Tables and Figures	25		
References		32		

STATEMENT OF RESEARCH

The research presented in this scholarly project report was performed in the laboratories of Johannes Schlondorff, M.D., Ph.D., Assistant Professor at Harvard Medical School, and Martin Pollak, M.D., Professor at Harvard Medical School. The study was conducted under the guidance of Dr. Moumita Barua, Dr. Schlondorff, and Dr. Pollak full-time over the summer of 2012 and part-time during the 2011-2012 and 2012-2013 academic years.

M.B. was supported by a training fellowship from the Kidney Research Scientist Core Education and National Training Program, Canadian Society of Nephrology, and Canadian Institutes of Health Research. E.S. was supported by a student scholarship from the American Society of Nephrology. This work was also supported by grants from the U.S. National Institutes of Health (DK54931 to J.S., and NHLBI/NHGRI Exome Project grant R01HL094963) and the NephCure Foundation (M.P.). M.B. contributed to the genetics studies, and E.S. contributed to the biochemical studies. We thank Sneha Krishna and David Chiluiza for their technical assistance, Andrea Uscinski Knob and Najwah Hayman for their assistance in obtaining clinical information, and Dr. Anthony Bretscher for providing the GFP-tagged ezrin in pEGFP-N2 construct.

A report of this work was previously published in *Kidney International* (1), and part of this work was presented in abstract form at the Annual Meeting of the American Society of Nephrology in Atlanta, GA, November 2013 (2).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank Dr. Schlondorff for being a truly outstanding mentor. He gave me the opportunity to work in his lab when I was an undergraduate, showed me the excitement of conducting research, and taught me to think critically and independently in science. It is rare to find individuals as tirelessly committed and generous in their time and mentorship as he is. He has also been a terrific role model over the past six years and has instilled in me a love for teaching and science.

I would also like to thank Dr. Barua and Dr. Pollak for their genuine interest and guidance. Their discussions with me were thoughtful, educational, and inspirational. It was a privilege to learn from them.

I also thank the past and current members of the lab, including Andrea Bernhardy, Sneha Krishna, David Chiluiza, Hakan Toka, Khaldoun Al-Romaih, Linda Sun, and Giulio Genovese. They were always eager to share their expertise and made the lab a warm and supportive environment. I will remember our conversations and the laughter.

Finally, I am immensely grateful to my family – mom, dad, and my sisters Karin and Eugenie – for their inspiration and support. Thank you for believing in me.

ABSTRACT

Studies of rare monogenetic forms of the glomerular kidney disease focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) have highlighted the importance of the podocyte in glomerular filtration. Recent reports have also demonstrated that the integral membrane protein podocalyxin (PODXL) is essential for the proper functioning of podocytes, possibly through maintaining the patency of the filtration slits by virtue of charge repulsion. Through whole exome sequencing, our group has recently identified rare co-segregating variants in PODXL in several families with autosomal dominant FSGS. One of the private variants, p.L442R, changes a highly-conserved non-polar residue into a charged residue within the protein's transmembrane domain. Using biochemical and cell-based assays, we demonstrate that the private variant enhances dimerization of the protein. However, the variant does not alter PODXL protein stability, subcellular localization, glycosylation, or interaction with known binding partner ezrin. Our data suggests that the variant is the most likely cause of disease in one family with autosomal dominant FSGS. However, the pathogenicity of the PODXL variant remains unclear, illustrating the challenges of confirming or refuting a rare mutation as disease causing.

INTRODUCTION

Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) is a histologically-defined form of glomerular kidney disease and is the most common glomerular cause of end-stage renal disease in adults. Because treatment is difficult and has limited success, patients frequently progress to end-stage renal disease. Over the past decade, studies of genetic forms of FSGS have proven instrumental in demonstrating that podocytes, the highly specialized and terminallydifferentiated epithelial cells surrounding the glomerular capillaries, play a critical role in glomerular filtration. Podocyte injury is almost universally seen in proteinuric kidney diseases (3). A substantial body of evidence has also demonstrated that the integral membrane protein podocalyxin (PODXL) is required for the proper function of podocytes as glomerular filters (4, 5). This protein is thought to act as an anti-adhesin that maintains the patency of the filtration slits between adjoining podocytes by virtue of charge repulsion (6, 7). Through whole exome sequencing, our group has recently identified rare co-segregating variants in PODXL in several families with a presumed autosomal dominant form of FSGS (1). The overall hypothesis of this scholarly project is that the rare variants contribute to the development of FSGS by disrupting PODXL function. The goal of this project is to characterize the mechanism by which the FSGSassociated variants result in disease.

PODXL: a member of the CD34 subfamily of sialomucins

PODXL is classically grouped into the CD34 subfamily of sialomucins based on domain structure, sequence homology, and alternative splicing pattern. Similar to the topological features of other CD34 family members, PODXL has a large extracellular domain that undergoes heavy

O-linked and N-linked glycosylation, sialylation, and sulfation (9). PODXL also possesses a highly evolutionarily conserved single-pass transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic tail with binding domains for the actin-binding protein ezrin and the PDZ adaptor proteins NHERF1 and NHERF2 (8).

PODXL function and downstream targets

PODXL's anti-adhesive properties

The sulfate and sialic acid moieties on PODXL's extracellular domain confer on PODXL a highly negatively charge (5, 10). Through charge-based repulsion, these motifs may help PODXL function as an anti-adhesive molecule (6, 7, 11-13). PODXL's anti-adhesive effects have been observed in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells, in which increased PODXL expression prevents cell aggregation, and in Madine-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells, in which PODXL decreases the electrical tightness of epithelial cell monolayers (6, 7). Furthermore, in podocytes, the appearance of PODXL coincides with the opening of intercellular spaces (6), whereas loss of PODXL's negative charge with sialidase or protamine sulfate is associated with the closure of these spaces (12, 13). Collectively, these reports suggest that PODXL inhibits cell-cell adhesion through charge repulsion.

Relation to the actin cytoskeleton

In addition to functioning as an anti-adhesive, PODXL modulates cell architecture by associating with actin. PODXL is part of a large apical complex containing several actin-associated proteins, including the actin-binding protein ezrin (19), the cytoplasmic adaptor proteins NHERF1/2 (17, 18), and the membrane-spanning chloride channel CLIC5A (14-16),

which has also been reported to function as a soluble actin-regulating protein. PODXL binds both directly and indirectly to ezrin through NHERF1/2 (17, 19). Activation of ezrin and NHERF by PODXL leads to activation of the actin-regulating GTPase, RhoA (18), microvillus formation (7) and an altered distribution of adherens junction and tight junction proteins (11) in kidney epithelial cells. Removal of PODXL's negative charge by sialidase or protamine sulfate treatment prevents PODXL from interacting with the ezrin complex or the actin cytoskeleton, leading to perturbed cell morphology (21).

Effects on other downstream targets

PODXL also influences other signaling pathways. By activating ezrin, PODXL increases the expression of matrix metalloproteinases and enhances the activity of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) (22). PODXL activates integrins and enhances cell adherence to extracellular matrix components, showing that PODXL also has pro-adhesive properties (23). Finally, PODXL's ectodomain may function as an autocrine or paracrine signaling molecule, as demonstrated by experiments showing that soluble ectodomain fragments of PODXL inhibit cell adherence (23).

Physiologic and pathologic roles of PODXL

PODXL in the glomerulus

PODXL is highly expressed in podocytes (4), the visceral epithelial cells of the glomerular capillaries. These cells are an important component of the glomerular filtration barrier, a three-layered sieve comprised of 1) the fenestrated endothelium of the glomerular capillaries, 2) a surrounding basement membrane, and 3) the podocytes that sit atop the

membrane in the urinary space (Figure 2, reviewed in (3) and (24)). Podocytes are highly specialized cells with intricate cytoarchitecture. Podocyte cell bodies extend outward to form cytoplasmic extensions called foot processes, which interdigitate with foot processes of adjacent podocytes. The intercellular spaces or filtration slits between foot processes are bridged by multi-protein gap junction complexes called slit diaphragms. Slit diaphragms act as the barrier's primary size- and charge-selective filter, preventing the passage of protein but enabling smaller molecules like metabolic wastes to pass into the urinary filtrate.

PODXL is required for the proper function of podocytes as glomerular filters, likely by keeping adjacent foot processes separated by charge repulsion (11, 25). This function is supported by studies on developing podocytes, which found that PODXL's initial appearance on the cell membrane occurs simultaneously with filtration slit opening (6). In knockout animal studies, PODXL-null mice are born anuric, lack foot processes and slit diaphragms, and die within the first day of life (25). Mice unable to synthesize O-glycans required for the appropriate glycosylation of PODXL experience glomerular lesions and proteinuria (26). Furthermore, neutralizing podocytes' negative charge by perfusing rat kidneys with polycations or glycosidases results in foot process effacement, filtration slits closure, and massive proteinuria (12, 13). In humans, reduced PODXL expression has been observed in several proteinuric glomerular diseases, including minimal change disease, membranous glomerulopathy, and FSGS (27). Taken together, these studies suggest that abnormal PODXL activity represents a common mechanism in kidney injury.

PODXL in other tissues

While initially identified in podocytes, PODXL is also expressed in hematopoetic progenitor cells, vascular endothelial cells, platelets, mesothelial cells lining the coelomic cavity, and a subset of neurons (reviewed in (28)). In the hematopoetic system, PODXL is highly expressed during development and helps new hematopoetic cells cross endothelial barriers so that they can migrate to distant organs (29). In mesothelial cells, PODXL may play a key role in retracting the gut from the umbilical cord during development, since nearly one-third of PODXL-null mice are born with gut herniation or omphalocele (25). In neurons, PODXL functions to promote neurite growth and axonal fasciculation (30). When expressed on the luminal surface of high endothelial venules, PODXL binds L-selectin, which facilitates leukocyte migration across capillary walls (37).

PODXL also serves as a marker for a number of aggressive cancers associated with poor outcomes (reviewed in (28)). PODXL is upregulated in breast cancer tumors associated with shorter mean survival times (31), is mutated in more aggressive prostate cancers (32), and undergoes additional post-translational modifications in non-seminomatous germ cell tumors (33). Increased PODXL expression has been observed in hepatocellular carcinomas (34), colorectal cancer (35), and several leukemias (36). PODXL appears to alter the cytoskeletal properties of malignant cells, enhancing their motility and metastatic potential (28). PODXL's role in a multitude of cell types and diseases underscores the importance of understanding PODXL and the mechanisms by which it is regulated.

PODXL and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis

We began investigating PODXL because of our interest in identifying genes involved in the etiology of FSGS, a type of kidney disease characterized histologically by scarring of parts of some of the glomeruli and clinically by nephrotic-range proteinuria and progressive renal failure (39). FSGS affects over 20% of all dialysis patients in the United States (40) and is broadly classified as "primary" if no association with an underlying systemic condition is known or "secondary" if a cause is identified (reviewed in (41)). Patients with the primary form usually present with acute-onset nephrotic syndrome; this form is now the second leading cause of kidney failure in children (42). By contrast, patients with the secondary form often present with asymptomatic subnephrotic range proteinuria that is sometimes only incidentally detected. Secondary FSGS is a much more common form of renal injury and is induced by systemic disease, such as viral infection with HIV (43) and parvovirus B19 (44), reflux nephropathy (45), intravenous drug abuse (41), and hyperfiltration states like renal dysplasia (39), obesity (46), and sickle cell disease (47). Patients frequently relapse, and only 30-50% of FSGS cases respond to available treatments (49). Half of patients with FSGS progress to kidney failure between 6 and 8 years of diagnosis (48).

Studies of monogenetic forms of FSGS have advanced our understanding of the key structures and pathways that lead to proteinuria and kidney injury. Despite the discovery of nearly a dozen genes that contribute to FSGS, these genes do not offer a genetic explanation for all of the families in our group's cohort of inherited FSGS. We therefore hypothesized that novel mutations in additional genes could be responsible for the disease. To test this possibility, we performed whole exome sequencing on two affected cousins, III(3) and III(4), from a family with presumed autosomal dominant inheritance and incomplete penetrance (family FG-HI, Figure 3) (clinical data previously reported in (1) and (50)). Members of this family presented with disease in their teenage and early adult years and progressed to end-stage renal disease between the second to sixth decade. Whole exome sequencing revealed co-segregating genetic

variants in three different genes: C6orf103, OR9A2, and PODXL (1). C6orf103 has an unknown function and OR9A2 is an olfactory receptor; neither stained strongly in human glomeruli (http://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000118492/normal) (1). As only PODXL stained strongly in glomeruli (http://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000128567/normal) and had a biologically plausible connection to FSGS, PODXL was selected for follow-up study. The index case PODXL variant, p.L442R, changed a nonpolar leucine to a charged arginine residue within the highly-conserved transmembrane portion of PODXL and was predicted to be damaging by PolyPhen-2 and SIFT software.

PODXL in 176 probands with autosomal dominant FSGS was subsequently sequenced to examine whether PODXL variants were present in other affected families. Four other individuals were discovered to have rare variants in PODXL: p.S214R, p.M484I, p.E492*, and p.K515R (Table 1). Using publically available exome sequencing data from the 1000 Genomes Project and Exome Sequencing Project, we found that three of the four variants were present in nominally normal patients. The remaining private variant, p.S214R, was present in a patient with another possibly causal gene that has been linked to kidney disease (M.D., G.G., M.P.; unpublished data).

Objectives

The goal of this scholarly project was to investigate the effect of rare PODXL variants on PODXL protein function. Using biochemical and cell-based experiments, we found that only the index case variant had a differential effect on the protein's biochemical properties. This variant was thus the most likely cause of glomerular disease in a single family with FSGS. However, the

effect of this biochemical change on the protein's function remains unknown, pointing to the difficulty of reaching a definitive conclusion on a rare variant's pathogenicity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Antibodies

The following antibodies were obtained: mouse monoclonal anti-PODXL 3D3 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit polyclonal anti-GFP FL (Santa Cruz), peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibodies (Santa Cruz), peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody (Cell Signaling), and protein G-agarose (Thermo Scientific).

Plasmids and site-directed mutagenesis

Myc-DDK-tagged ORF clone of human PODXL, transcript variant 2, in pCMV6-Entry vector was purchased from Origene. To generate PODXL without the myc and DDK tags, the Quikchange Lightning Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent Technologist, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was used to introduce a stop codon immediately after the PODXL ORF. The same kit was also used to introduce the desired mutations into PODXL. Briefly, using the pCMV6-PODXL vector as a template for mutagenesis, 100 ng of the vector was incubated with mutagenesis primers and mutagenesis enzyme mix according to the manufacturer's protocol. To verify the sequence of the PODXL gene for each mutation, the entire coding region of the gene was sequenced. Vectors were purified for transfection using the Qiagen Plasmid Maxi kit.

GFP-tagged ezrin in pEGFP-N2 was provided by Anthony Bretscher (Weill Institute of Cell and Molecular Biology, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY).

Cell culture and transfection

MDCK Tet-Off cells (Clontech) were maintained at subconfluence in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 5% tetracycline-free heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, 100 μ g/ml G418 disulfate salt solution, and penicillin G, streptomycin, and amphotericin B at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were transiently transfected with plasmid DNA using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's protocol and processed 16-24 h after transfection.

Cell surface biotinylation

Following transient transfection, cells were washed in ice-cold PBS and subsequently incubated in ice-cold PBS containing 0.5 mg/ml of Sulfo-NHS-Biotin at 4°C for 1 h (Thermo Scientific). The biotin solution was removed and the cells were incubated in PBS supplemented with 10mM glycine at 4°C for 10 min to quench the reaction. Cells were lysed in ice-cold TBS with 1% (vol/vol) NP-40 lysis buffer supplemented with Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail and PhosSTOP Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche). Cell lysates were cleared by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm at 4°C. An aliquot of the cleared lysate was set aside and mixed with sample loading buffer for Western blot analysis. The remaining lysate was mixed with 20 µl of a 50% slurry of streptavidin beads (Pierce) in lysis buffer and incubated 4°C for 2 h. The samples were rocked gently at 4°C for 2 h, spun down at 5000 rpm, and washed three times with 800 µl of lysis buffer. To elute the bound protein, the beads were mixed with sample loading buffer for 5 minutes at 95°C. Total PODXL and biotinylated PODXL was visualized by Western blot, and relative band intensities were analyzed using FluorChem Q software (ProteinSimple).

Deglycosylation

Cell lysates were mock treated or treated with peptide N-glycosidase F, neuraminidase, or O-glycosidase and neuraminidase (PNGase F; O-Glycosidase and Neuraminidase Bundle; New England Biolabs) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. After treatment, lysates were resolved by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and Western blot analysis.

Immunofluorescence confocal microscopy

Transfected cells grown on collagen I-coated glass coverslips (BD) were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized in Triton X-100 in PBS, and incubated sequentially with primary antibodies followed by Alexa 488 goat anti-rabbit or Dylight 594 goat anti-mouse antibodies. FITC Phalloidin and Hoechst 33342 were used to visualize actin filaments and nuclei. Cells were mounted with Fluoromount-G (Southern Biotech), and confocal images were taken using a Zeiss LSM510 upright confocal microscope, with a 63x objective and 0.1 µm optical sections. Images were analyzed with Zeiss software.

Immunoprecipitation assay

Transfected cells were washed once with PBS and lysed in 700 μ l of ice-cold TBS with 1% (vol/vol) NP-40 lysis buffer supplemented with Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail and PhosSTOP Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche). Cell lysates were cleared by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm at 4°C. An aliquot of the cleared lysate was set aside and mixed with sample loading buffer for Western blot analysis. The remaining cleared lysates were mixed with 20 μ l of a 50% slurry of antibody-immobilized agarose beads in lysis buffer and rocked

gently at 4°C for 2 h. Samples were spun down at 5000 rpm and washed three times with 700 μ l of lysis buffer. To prepare the samples for Western blot analysis, the beads were mixed with sample loading buffer containing 2-mercaptoethanol and boiled for 5 minutes at 95°C.

Western blot analysis

Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). The membranes were stained with Ponceau S, blocked on 5% bovine serum albumin in TBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (TBST) for 30 min, and incubated with primary antibody for 1 h at room temperature. The blots were then rinsed three times with TBST and incubated with 1:2500 secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase in TBST. Following three 5 min washes, the blots were detected with SuperSignal West Dura Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce). Relative band intensities were analyzed using FluorChem Q software (ProteinSimple).

RESULTS

PODXL protein stability unaltered by disease-associated mutations

Decreased PODXL activity is associated with podocyte foot process effacement, a hallmark of glomerular injury, and human proteinuric glomerulopathies (12, 13). We therefore hypothesized that the disease-associated variants in PODXL lead to FSGS by impairing the stability of the protein. To test this possibility, several control variants were selected from the Exome Sequencing Project, which presumably represent non-proteinuric controls (Table 1). The control variants and FSGS-associated variants were introduced into PODXL expression plasmids with site-directed mutagenesis. Western blot analysis of transiently transfected Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells failed to detect any significant differences in the quantity of protein expressed between the suspected disease-causing variants, control variants, and wild-type (Figure 4), suggesting that the disease-associated variants do not alter PODXL protein expression.

Enhanced PODXL dimerization by the p.L442R variant

Although the disease-associated variants did not affect the quantity of protein expressed, p.L442R PODXL produced a higher-molecular weight aggregate in addition to a normally sized product. By SDS-PAGE, p.L442R PODXL expressed in MDCK cells is detected as a ~330 kDa upper band and an ~165 kDa lower band (Figure 4). By contrast, the remaining variants and wild-type were predominately detected as an ~165 kDa lower band under the same experimental conditions. Given its molecular weight, this upper band likely represents a dimer. However, we

cannot rule out the possibility that this upper band is an aggregate of PODXL protein with another unrelated protein.

As PODXL undergoes significant post-translational glycosylation of its extracellular domain (9), we hypothesized that the higher molecular weight band represents differentially glycosylated PODXL. Cell lysates were treated with either PNGase F to remove Nglycosylations, neuraminidase to remove sialic acid motifs, or a combination of O-glycosidase and neuraminidase to remove O-glycosylations. Western blot analysis showed no significant differences in the glycosylation pattern of p.L442R PODXL (Figure 6).

To investigate the effect of different lysis buffers on the higher-molecular weight band, p.L442R and wild-type PODXL were lysed in either mild lysis buffer with mild non-ionic detergent (TBS + 1% NP-40) or lysis buffer with ionic detergent (RIPA). Lysis in RIPA blocked the formation of the upper band, suggesting that the higher molecular weight band is an aggregate of PODXL formed during lysis with a mild non-ionic detergent.

Subcellular trafficking and localization of PODXL unaffected by p.L442R variant

In podocytes, PODXL is localized to the apical surface of podocyte foot processes above the level of the slit diaphragm, which enables PODXL to keep open the filtration slits between adjacent foot processes (11, 25). In MDCK cells, PODXL is also predominately located at the apical surface, although some protein is also distributed in cytoplasmic vesicles, endoplasmic reticulum, and Golgi complexes (51). To test whether the p.L442R variant alters subcellular trafficking of the protein, confocal immunofluorescence microscopy and cell surface biotinylation experiments were performed. Similar staining patterns between wild-type and p.L442R PODXL were observed on confocal microscopy, with punctate staining on the apical

aspect of the MDCK cells. Biotinylation experiments to quantify protein expression on the cell surface were not significantly different between wild-type and p.L442R PODXL on Western blot analysis.

Interaction of PODXL with ezrin unaffected by p.L442R variant

Previous studies have identified mutations in several actin-associated FSGS genes, including the actin-bundling protein alpha-actinin 4 (52, 53), actin-regulating protein INF2 (54), and cation channel TRPC6 (55). These studies suggest that the integrity of the podocyte actin cytoskeleton is essential to podocyte function. Thus, we were interested in whether the p.L442R variant disrupts PODXL's interaction with its usual binding partner ezrin, which links PODXL to the actin network. To assess this possibility, confocal immunofluorescence microscopy was performed on MDCK cells co-transfected with PODXL and ezrin. Staining showed approximately equivalent partial co-localization of PODXL with ezrin for both wild-type and variant PODXL. This result suggests that the p.L442R variant does not impair the PODXL-ezrin interaction.

DISCUSSION

Whole exome sequencing of two affected cousins from a family with autosomal dominant FSGS revealed a previously-unreported private variant in PODXL, a gene with known links to podocyte biology and nephrotic syndrome. PODXL is widely believed to act as an anti-adhesin that keeps the slit membranes between adjoining podocyte foot processes open for filtration by virtue of charged-based repulsion (6, 7). This notion is supported by knock-out animal studies showing foot process effacement and massive proteinuria (25) and by human observational studies showing reduced PODXL expression in several glomerular diseases (27). Given the biologic plausibility and its critical role in the podocyte, PODXL was a highly attractive candidate for further study. We therefore sequenced PODXL in 176 additional probands, identifying one other private variant in PODXL.

This scholarly project investigated whether the two private PODXL variants had an effect on podocyte function. Using biochemical and cell biological assays, we demonstrate that compared to wild-type and the other rare variants, only the index case variant, p.L442R, had an differential effect on PODXL. This variant produced a ~330 kDa band in addition to a normallysized ~165 kDa band on Western blotting. This finding indicated that the variant induces the formation of PODXL dimers. That the variant localizes to the transmembrane portion of the protein further suggests that the transmembrane domain is involved in the higher order aggregation of PODXL monomers. However, we cannot exclude that the higher molecular weight band represents an aggregate of PODXL protein with other unrelated proteins or that the aggregate was produced only after cell lysis.

Our working hypothesis was that enhanced PODXL dimerization caused podocyte dysfunction by 1) reducing PODXL's negative surface charge, or 2) altering PODXL's interactions with its actin-associated binding partners. Our subsequent experiments did not bear out these hypotheses. Biochemical and cell biological assays showed that the variant does not affect the protein's stability or expression levels, subcellular localization or trafficking to the apical surface, glycosylation pattern, or ability to bind with its normal interactor ezrin, an actin-binding protein. Thus, the effect of increased dimerization on PODXL function remains unclear.

While the variant did not impair PODXL's ability to co-localize with ezrin at the apical surface, altered multimerization of PODXL protein could still potentially affect PODXL's association with its other binding partners. These partners belong to a large apical multi-protein complex and include not only ezrin (19) but also cytoplasmic adaptor proteins NHERF1/2 (17) and actin-regulating protein CLIC5A (14-16). NHERF1/2 has been proposed to act as an aggregating protein that mediates PODXL dimerization and integrates PODXL dimers into clusters of lipid rafts called apical sorting platforms (56, 57). Activation of NHERF1/2 by PODXL has been shown to result in phosphorylation and activation of ezrin, activation of RhoA, redistribution of actin, the formation of microvilli, and an altered arrangement of adherens junctions and tight junctions in kidney epithelial cells (18). We propose several additional experiments to parse out the variant's effect on 1) PODXL's interaction with NHERF1/2 and CLIC5A, 2) the ability of PODXL to sort into lipid rafts, 3) the levels of activated NHERF1/2, ezrin, and RhoA, and 4) PODXL's association with actin filaments.

More recent reports have also highlighted the process of ectodomain shedding as an important mechanism by which PODXL affects cell adhesion, cell-cell interactions, and downstream signaling pathways (23, 58, 59). Through cleavage by several types of

metalloproteinases, PODXL is released into the extracellular space as a soluble ectodomain fragment. This cleaved fragment enters the extracellular space and act as an autocrine or paracrine signaling molecule. These ectodomain shedding events are often followed by intramembrane cleavage to release the cytoplasmic domain from the membrane, though this has not yet been documented for PODXL. Given the location of the p.L442R variant in the transmembrane domain of PODXL and the fact that the variant resides within a sequence that undergoes proteolysis by matrix metalloproteinase-14 (MMP-14) (58), the variant might alter the proteolytic processing of PODXL. While we did not observe any differences in proteolysis with variant PODXL on Western blot analysis, whether MMP-14 is endogenously expressed in MDCK cell is unclear. Future experiments should explore this issue.

We are aware of the limitations of our study. We performed our cell-based experiments on Madine Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells, which derive from the collecting duct or distal tubule of the nephron. These cell lines express endogenous PODXL but may handle PODXL differently than podocytes. Nevertheless, many groups have employed MDCK cells as a proxy in studying PODXL, since MDCK cells display columnar morphology and represent a paradigm cell line for investigating apical versus basolateral membrane trafficking (18, 20, 57). While it would be ideal to study PODXL in podocytes, we were unable to obtain efficient expression of PODXL in cultured podocytes. A second limitation is that the statistical support for PODXL as a disease-causing gene was not strong. The burden of the variants in our probands with FSGS was not significantly different from the frequency of rare variants in the general population. The p.L442R variant was also identified in a family too small for conclusive genetic results.

In summary, we have identified a variant in PODXL as the most likely cause of disease in one family with autosomal dominant FSGS. Our conclusion is based on suggestive but not

definitive genetic data and *in vitro* experiments demonstrating enhanced dimerization of variant PODXL. To our knowledge, this is the first time that a variant in the PODXL gene has been reported in patients with FSGS. This is despite many previous animal and human studies showing links between PODXL and glomerular disease. Uncovering a causal link between a PODXL mutation and FSGS lends credence to the argument that PODXL is a potential target molecule in the treatment of some forms of proteinuric kidney disease. The second conclusion we draw from the data is the difficulty of using biochemical studies to definitively validate or refute a candidate gene as disease causing. While we have demonstrated that the variant produces a biochemical change in PODXL, its effect on PODXL function remains unknown despite numerous biochemical studies. We believe that these challenges will arise more frequently as whole exome sequencing is increasingly performed on smaller previously uninformative autosomal dominant pedigrees in the search for disease-causing genes.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1: PODXL rare variants discovered in the FSGS cohort and selected PODXL rare variants from the ESP.

Cohort	Codon change	Amino acid change	Mutation type	Location	Position	1KG	ESP
FSGS	agC/agA	p.S214R	Missense	Extracellular	131195651	0	0
FSGS	cTc/cGc	p.L442R	Missense	TM	131190685	0	0
FSGS	atG/atA	p.M484I	Missense	Intracellular	131189199	0	3
FSGS	*GAG/-	p.E492-	Deletion	Intracellular	131189174	61	NA
FSGS	aAg/aGg	p.K515R	Missense	Intracellular	131189107	0	6
ESP	Ggc/Agc	p.G112S	Missense	Extracellular	131195959	_	3773
ESP	Acc/Tcc	p.T180S	Missense	Extracellular	131195755	_	4
ESP	atG/atA	p.M428I	Missense	TM	131190726	_	1
ESP	Atg/Gtg	p.M490V	Missense	Intracellular	131189183	_	1

Abbreviations: 1KG, 1000 Genomes Project; ESP, Exome Sequencing Project; FSGS, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis; NA, not applicable; PODXL, podocalyxin; TM, transmembrane

The number of alleles with the indicated variant found in the 1KG and ESP are indicated in columns 7 and 8. At the time of reference, sequence information for 2200 and 10,800 haplotypes was available in the 1KG and ESP, respectively. All of these variants were introduced by mutagenesis in plasmids harboring the PODXL gene for further experiments. Amino acid changes are indicated using NCBI accession number NM_005397. DNA coordinates are indicated with reference to human Hg19. *in-frame deletion (previously published in (1))



Figure 1: PODXL protein structure and binding partners. PODXL possesses a heavily glycosylated extracellular domain covered by negatively-charged sialic acid and sulfate moieties. The single-pass transmembrane domain and intracellular domain are highly conserved.

White boxes, mucin domain; horizontal bars with or without arrows, O-linked glycosylations; arrows, sialic acid moieties on O-linked glycosylations; black circles, N-linked glycosylations; black boxes, disulfide-bonded globular domain; white circles, potential phosphorylation sites for protein kinase C and casein kinase II; DTHL, potential PDZ protein interaction domain. Figure adapted from (25).



Figure 2: Schematic representation of a glomerular capillary loop. (a) The glomerular filtration barrier is comprised of the fenestrated endothelium of the glomerular capillaries, a surrounding basement membrane, and the podocytes that sit atop the membrane in the urinary space. (b) Enlarged view of the glomerular filtration barrier. The gaps between podocyte foot processes are bridged by multi-protein slit diaphragms, which serve as the primary size- and charge-selective filter of the barrier. Figure adapted from (60).



d

Rat	${\tt WDDLTEAGVIDIHLGKEGPPGVNedrfslpliitiv-cmasfllvaalygcchqrisqr}$
Mouse	${\tt WDDLTEAGVSDMKLGKEGPPEVNEDRFSLPLIITIV-CMASFLLLVAALYGCCHQRISQR}$
Zebra finch	${\tt KERLEQLGIINITSDK} {\tt MVEDMTINDEFSTPLIITII-TLAGSLLLVAAIYG-CHQRFSQK}$
Human	${\tt WDELKEAGVSDMKLGDQGPPEEAEDRFSMPLIITIV-CMASFLLLVAALYGCCHQRLSQR}$
Dog	${\tt WDELKEVGVSNMKLGDQGPPEETEDRFSMPLIITIV-CMASFLLLVAALYGCCHQRLSQR}$
Rabbit	WDDLREEGVSDMQLGDQGPPEETEDRFSLPLIITIV-CMASFLLLVAALYGCCHQRLSHR

Figure 3: Pedigree of family FG-HI, sequencing, and multisequence alignment. (a) Pedigree for family FG-HI. Affected individuals are indicated in gray. Individuals who are heterozygous for the variant PODXL p.L442R are denoted by '+,' wherease those without the mutation are denoted by '-.' Individuals without a notation were not tested because no sample was available. **(b)** Next generation sequencing reads across PODXL aligned to the reference genome in Integrative Genome Viewer. The antisense strand is indicated as reference. **(c)** Sanger sequencing confirming the PODXL variant in all affected individuals where DNA was available. The sense strand is indicated. **(d)** Multisequence alignment showing conservation of the affected amino acid residues. P.L442R is indicated with a '*.' Previously published in (1).



Figure 4: FSGS-associated genetic variants do not alter the stability of PODXL protein. MDCK cells were co-transfected with GFP and equal amounts of either wildtype PODXL plasmid, PODXL plasmid containing an FSGS-associated variant (p.L442R to p.K515R), or PODXL plasmid containing a control variant from the Exome Sequencing Project (p.G112S to p.M490V). After 24 h, the cells were lysed, and the lysates were immunoblotted for PODXL (upper panel) or GFP (lower panel). * indicates amino acid is deleted. Previously published in (1).



Figure 5: The FSGS-associated p.L442R variant does not alter the subcellular localization of PODXL. MDCK cells transfected with PODXL wildtype or p.L442R plasmid. PODXL was labeled with an anti-PODXL antibody (red), F-actin was labeled with phallodin (green), and nuclei were labeled with Hoechst 33342 (blue). (a) Horizontal slices of confocal stacks. (b) Vertical slices of confocal stacks. (c) Transfected MDCK cells were surface biotinylated, and cell surface proteins were pulled down using streptavidin beads. Total PODXL and biotinylated PODXL were visualized by Western blot. Previously published in (1).



Figure 6: The FSGS-associated p.L442R variant induces the formation of PODXL dimers. (a) MDCK cells transfected with either wildtype or p.L442R PODXL plasmid were mock treated or treated with either PNGase F, neuraminidase, or a combination of O-glycosidase and neuraminidase. No differences were observed in the before or after deglycosylation patterns in both PODXL wildtype and p.L442R mutant on Western blotting. (b) MDCK cells were transfected with either PODXL wildtype plasmid or PODXL p.L442R plasmid. The cells were lysed after 24 h in either mild lysis buffer (TBS + 1% NP-40) or lysis buffer with ionic detergent (RIPA). PODXL was detected using an anti-PODXL antibody. Arrows indicates upper form. Previously published in (1).



Figure 7: The FSGS-associated L442R variant does not alter co-localization of PODXL with ezrin at the apical surface. MDCK cells co-transfected with ezrin and either wildtype or p.L442R PODXL plasmid were fixed. PODXL was labeled with an anti-PODXL antibody (red) and GFP-tagged ezrin was labeled with GFP (green). Scale bar: 20 μ m. Previously published in (1).

REFERENCES

- 1. Barua M, Shieh E, Schlondorff J, Genovese G, Kaplan BS, Pollak MR. Exome sequencing and in vitro studies identified podocalyxin as a candidate gene for focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis. Kidney international2014 Jan;85(1):124-33.
- Shieh E BM, Schlondorff J, Genovese G, Kaplan B, Pollak MR. Exome sequencing and in vitro studies identify Podocalyxin as a likely rare FSGS gene. Poster session presented at: American Society of Nephrology 46th Annual Meeting and Scientific Exposition; 2013; Atlanta, GA.
- 3. Somlo S, Mundel P. Getting a foothold in nephrotic syndrome. Nature genetics2000 Apr;24(4):333-5.
- Kerjaschki D, Sharkey DJ, Farquhar MG. Identification and characterization of podocalyxinthe major sialoprotein of the renal glomerular epithelial cell. The Journal of cell biology1984 Apr;98(4):1591-6.
- 5. Dekan G, Gabel C, Farquhar MG. Sulfate contributes to the negative charge of podocalyxin, the major sialoglycoprotein of the glomerular filtration slits. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. [Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 1991 Jun 15;88(12):5398-402.
- Schnabel E, Dekan G, Miettinen A, Farquhar MG. Biogenesis of podocalyxin--the major glomerular sialoglycoprotein--in the newborn rat kidney. European journal of cell biology1989 Apr;48(2):313-26.
- Nielsen JS, Graves ML, Chelliah S, Vogl AW, Roskelley CD, McNagny KM. The CD34related molecule podocalyxin is a potent inducer of microvillus formation. PloS one. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2007;2(2):e237.
- 8. Nielsen JS, McNagny KM. Novel functions of the CD34 family. Journal of cell science2008 Nov 15;121(Pt 22):3683-92.
- 9. Kershaw DB, Beck SG, Wharram BL, Wiggins JE, Goyal M, Thomas PE, Wiggins RC. Molecular cloning and characterization of human podocalyxin-like protein. Orthologous relationship to rabbit PCLP1 and rat podocalyxin. The Journal of biological chemistry1997 Jun 20;272(25):15708-14.
- 10. Kerjaschki D, Vernillo AT, Farquhar MG. Reduced sialylation of podocalyxin--the major sialoprotein of the rat kidney glomerulus--in aminonucleoside nephrosis. The American journal of pathology1985 Mar;118(3):343-9.
- 11. Takeda T, Go WY, Orlando RA, Farquhar MG. Expression of podocalyxin inhibits cell-cell adhesion and modifies junctional properties in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. Molecular biology of the cell. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't
- Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 2000 Sep;11(9):3219-32.
- 12. Seiler MW, Rennke HG, Venkatachalam MA, Cotran RS. Pathogenesis of polycationinduced alterations ("fusion") of glomerular epithelium. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology1977 Jan;36(1):48-61.
- Gelberg H, Healy L, Whiteley H, Miller LA, Vimr E. In vivo enzymatic removal of alpha 2-->6-linked sialic acid from the glomerular filtration barrier results in podocyte charge alteration and glomerular injury. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology1996 May;74(5):907-20.

- 14. Edwards JC. What's a CLIC doing in the podocyte? Kidney international. [Comment]. 2010 Nov;78(9):831-3.
- Pierchala BA, Munoz MR, Tsui CC. Proteomic analysis of the slit diaphragm complex: CLIC5 is a protein critical for podocyte morphology and function. Kidney international. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural]. 2010 Nov;78(9):868-82.
- 16. Wegner B, Al-Momany A, Kulak SC, Kozlowski K, Obeidat M, Jahroudi N, Paes J, Berryman M, Ballermann BJ. CLIC5A, a component of the ezrin-podocalyxin complex in glomeruli, is a determinant of podocyte integrity. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2010 Jun;298(6):F1492-503.
- Li Y, Li J, Straight SW, Kershaw DB. PDZ domain-mediated interaction of rabbit podocalyxin and Na(+)/H(+) exchange regulatory factor-2. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. [Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 2002 Jun;282(6):F1129-39.
- Schmieder S, Nagai M, Orlando RA, Takeda T, Farquhar MG. Podocalyxin activates RhoA and induces actin reorganization through NHERF1 and Ezrin in MDCK cells. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 2004 Sep;15(9):2289-98.
- 19. Orlando RA, Takeda T, Zak B, Schmieder S, Benoit VM, McQuistan T, Furthmayr H, Farquhar MG. The glomerular epithelial cell anti-adhesin podocalyxin associates with the actin cytoskeleton through interactions with ezrin. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 2001 Aug;12(8):1589-98.
- 20. Fukasawa H, Obayashi H, Schmieder S, Lee J, Ghosh P, Farquhar MG. Phosphorylation of podocalyxin (Ser415) Prevents RhoA and ezrin activation and disrupts its interaction with the actin cytoskeleton. The American journal of pathology. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2011 Nov;179(5):2254-65.
- 21. Takeda T, McQuistan T, Orlando RA, Farquhar MG. Loss of glomerular foot processes is associated with uncoupling of podocalyxin from the actin cytoskeleton. The Journal of clinical investigation. [Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 2001 Jul;108(2):289-301.
- 22. Sizemore S, Cicek M, Sizemore N, Ng KP, Casey G. Podocalyxin increases the aggressive phenotype of breast and prostate cancer cells in vitro through its interaction with ezrin. Cancer research. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural]. 2007 Jul 1;67(13):6183-91.
- 23. Larrucea S, Butta N, Arias-Salgado EG, Alonso-Martin S, Ayuso MS, Parrilla R. Expression of podocalyxin enhances the adherence, migration, and intercellular communication of cells. Experimental cell research. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2008 Jun 10;314(10):2004-15.
- 24. Tryggvason K, Wartiovaara J. How does the kidney filter plasma? Physiology2005 Apr;20:96-101.
- 25. Doyonnas R, Kershaw DB, Duhme C, Merkens H, Chelliah S, Graf T, McNagny KM. Anuria, omphalocele, and perinatal lethality in mice lacking the CD34-related protein podocalyxin. The Journal of experimental medicine2001 Jul 2;194(1):13-27.
- 26. Alexander WS, Viney EM, Zhang JG, Metcalf D, Kauppi M, Hyland CD, Carpinelli MR, Stevenson W, Croker BA, Hilton AA, Ellis S, Selan C, Nandurkar HH, Goodnow CC, Kile BT, Nicola NA, Roberts AW, Hilton DJ. Thrombocytopenia and kidney disease in mice with a mutation in the C1galt1 gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of

Sciences of the United States of America. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2006 Oct 31;103(44):16442-7.

- 27. Kavoura E, Gakiopoulou H, Paraskevakou H, Marinaki S, Agrogiannis G, Stofas A, Boletis I, Patsouris E, Lazaris AC. Immunohistochemical evaluation of podocalyxin expression in glomerulopathies associated with nephrotic syndrome. Human pathology2011 Feb;42(2):227-35.
- 28. Nielsen JS, McNagny KM. The role of podocalyxin in health and disease. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN2009 Aug;20(8):1669-76.
- 29. Doyonnas R, Nielsen JS, Chelliah S, Drew E, Hara T, Miyajima A, McNagny KM. Podocalyxin is a CD34-related marker of murine hematopoietic stem cells and embryonic erythroid cells. Blood2005 Jun 1;105(11):4170-8.
- 30. Vitureira N, Andres R, Perez-Martinez E, Martinez A, Bribian A, Blasi J, Chelliah S, Lopez-Domenech G, De Castro F, Burgaya F, McNagny K, Soriano E. Podocalyxin is a novel polysialylated neural adhesion protein with multiple roles in neural development and synapse formation. PloS one. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2010;5(8):e12003.
- 31. Somasiri A, Nielsen JS, Makretsov N, McCoy ML, Prentice L, Gilks CB, Chia SK, Gelmon KA, Kershaw DB, Huntsman DG, McNagny KM, Roskelley CD. Overexpression of the anti-adhesin podocalyxin is an independent predictor of breast cancer progression. Cancer research2004 Aug 1;64(15):5068-73.
- 32. Casey G, Neville PJ, Liu X, Plummer SJ, Cicek MS, Krumroy LM, Curran AP, McGreevy MR, Catalona WJ, Klein EA, Witte JS. Podocalyxin variants and risk of prostate cancer and tumor aggressiveness. Human molecular genetics2006 Mar 1;15(5):735-41.
- Schopperle WM, Kershaw DB, DeWolf WC. Human embryonal carcinoma tumor antigen, Gp200/GCTM-2, is podocalyxin. Biochemical and biophysical research communications2003 Jan 10;300(2):285-90.
- 34. Chen X, Higgins J, Cheung ST, Li R, Mason V, Montgomery K, Fan ST, van de Rijn M, So S. Novel endothelial cell markers in hepatocellular carcinoma. Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc2004 Oct;17(10):1198-210.
- 35. Larsson A, Johansson ME, Wangefjord S, Gaber A, Nodin B, Kucharzewska P, Welinder C, Belting M, Eberhard J, Johnsson A, Uhlen M, Jirstrom K. Overexpression of podocalyxin-like protein is an independent factor of poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. British journal of cancer2011 Aug 23;105(5):666-72.
- 36. Kelley TW, Huntsman D, McNagny KM, Roskelley CD, Hsi ED. Podocalyxin: a marker of blasts in acute leukemia. American journal of clinical pathology2005 Jul;124(1):134-42.
- 37. Sassetti C, Tangemann K, Singer MS, Kershaw DB, Rosen SD. Identification of podocalyxin-like protein as a high endothelial venule ligand for L-selectin: parallels to CD34. The Journal of experimental medicine. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 1998 Jun 15;187(12):1965-75.
- 38. Larrucea S, Butta N, Rodriguez RB, Alonso-Martin S, Arias-Salgado EG, Ayuso MS, Parrilla R. Podocalyxin enhances the adherence of cells to platelets. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2007 Nov;64(22):2965-74.
- 39. Meyrier A. Mechanisms of disease: focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Nature clinical practice Nephrology2005 Nov;1(1):44-54.

- 40. Kitiyakara C, Eggers P, Kopp JB. Twenty-one-year trend in ESRD due to focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in the United States. American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation2004 Nov;44(5):815-25.
- 41. Lin J. Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis. Nephrology Rounds2006 May;4(5).
- 42. McEnery PT, Alexander SR, Sullivan K, Tejani A. Renal transplantation in children and adolescents: the 1992 annual report of the North American Pediatric Renal Transplant Cooperative Study. Pediatric nephrology. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 1993 Dec;7(6):711-20.
- 43. Kaufman L, Collins SE, Klotman PE. The pathogenesis of HIV-associated nephropathy. Advances in chronic kidney disease2010 Jan;17(1):36-43.
- 44. Moudgil A, Nast CC, Bagga A, Wei L, Nurmamet A, Cohen AH, Jordan SC, Toyoda M. Association of parvovirus B19 infection with idiopathic collapsing glomerulopathy. Kidney international2001 Jun;59(6):2126-33.
- 45. Morita M, Yoshiara S, White RH, Raafat F. The glomerular changes in children with reflux nephropathy. J Pathol1990 Nov;162(3):245-53.
- 46. Kambham N, Markowitz GS, Valeri AM, Lin J, D'Agati VD. Obesity-related glomerulopathy: an emerging epidemic. Kidney international2001 Apr;59(4):1498-509.
- 47. Verani RR, Conley SB. Sickle cell glomerulopathy with focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Child nephrology and urology1991;11(4):206-8.
- 48. Korbet SM. Primary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN1998 Jul;9(7):1333-40.
- 49. Winn MP. Approach to the evaluation of heritable diseases and update on familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association2003 Aug;18 Suppl 6:vi14-20.
- 50. Copelovitch L, Guttenberg M, Pollak MR, Kaplan BS. Renin-angiotensin axis blockade reduces proteinuria in presymptomatic patients with familial FSGS. Pediatric nephrology2007 Oct;22(10):1779-84.
- 51. Sawada H, Stukenbrok H, Kerjaschki D, Farquhar MG. Epithelial polyanion (podocalyxin) is found on the sides but not the soles of the foot processes of the glomerular epithelium. The American journal of pathology1986 Nov;125(2):309-18.
- 52. Kaplan JM, Kim SH, North KN, Rennke H, Correia LA, Tong HQ, Mathis BJ, Rodriguez-Perez JC, Allen PG, Beggs AH, Pollak MR. Mutations in ACTN4, encoding alphaactinin-4, cause familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Nature genetics2000 Mar;24(3):251-6.
- 53. Weins A, Kenlan P, Herbert S, Le TC, Villegas I, Kaplan BS, Appel GB, Pollak MR. Mutational and Biological Analysis of alpha-actinin-4 in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN2005 Dec;16(12):3694-701.
- 54. Brown EJ, Schlondorff JS, Becker DJ, Tsukaguchi H, Tonna SJ, Uscinski AL, Higgs HN, Henderson JM, Pollak MR. Mutations in the formin gene INF2 cause focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Nature genetics2010 Jan;42(1):72-6.
- 55. Winn MP, Conlon PJ, Lynn KL, Farrington MK, Creazzo T, Hawkins AF, Daskalakis N, Kwan SY, Ebersviller S, Burchette JL, Pericak-Vance MA, Howell DN, Vance JM, Rosenberg PB. A mutation in the TRPC6 cation channel causes familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Science2005 Jun 17;308(5729):1801-4.

- 56. Yu CY, Chen JY, Lin YY, Shen KF, Lin WL, Chien CL, ter Beest MB, Jou TS. A bipartite signal regulates the faithful delivery of apical domain marker podocalyxin/Gp135. Molecular biology of the cell2007 May;18(5):1710-22.
- 57. Meder D, Shevchenko A, Simons K, Fullekrug J. Gp135/podocalyxin and NHERF-2 participate in the formation of a preapical domain during polarization of MDCK cells. The Journal of cell biology2005 Jan 17;168(2):303-13.
- 58. Fernandez D, Larrucea S, Nowakowski A, Pericacho M, Parrilla R, Ayuso MS. Release of podocalyxin into the extracellular space. Role of metalloproteinases. Biochim Biophys Acta2011 Aug;1813(8):1504-10.
- 59. Arribas J, Borroto A. Protein ectodomain shedding. Chem Rev2002 Dec;102(12):4627-38.
- 60. Leeuwis JW, Nguyen TQ, Dendooven A, Kok RJ, Goldschmeding R. Targeting podocyteassociated diseases. Adv Drug Deliv Rev2010 Nov 30;62(14):1325-36.